NO. 69807-9

# COURT OF APPEALS FOR DIVISION I STATE OF WASHINGTON

II.	Assignments of Error	
III.	Issues Pertaining to Assignment of Error	
IV.	Statement of the Case 4	
	A.	Employment Context
V.	Arg	ument
	A.	Standard of Review16
lang	B. guage	The law on insubordination is clear, and its plain requires the denial of benefits
acti	C. ons v	The Department erred in concluding that Ms. Thomas's were a "good faith error in judgment."26
	D.	Ms. Thomas's actions violate principal-agent law30
VI.	Con	iclusion

### TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

### **Washington Cases**

Griffith v. State Dept. of Employment Security, 163 Wn. App. 1, 10. 20, 31
Hamel v. Employment Sec. Dept., 93 Wn. App. 140, 146 (1998) 20
Harvey v. Dept. of Employment Security, 53 Wn. App. 333 (1988) 25
Kieburtz & Associates, Inc. v. Rehn, 68 Wn. App. 260, 265-66 (1992) 33
Macey v. State, Department of Employment Security, 110 Wn.2d 308
(1988)
Markam Group, Inc. v. Department of Employment Security, 148 Wn.
App. 555, 561 (2009)
Nelson v. Employment Security Department, 98 Wn.2d 370, 375 (1982) 27
Peck v. Siau, 65 Wn. App. 285, 291 (1992)
Peterson v. Employment Security Department, 42 Wn. App. 364 (1988)26,
27
Raymond v. McFadden, 21 Wn.2d 328, 332 (1944)
Smith v. Employment Security Department, 155 Wn. App. 24, 32 (2010)
Tassoni v. Department of Retirement Systems, 108 Wn. App. 77, 84, 29
P.3d 63 (2001)
Taylor v. City of Redmond, 89 Wn.2d 315, 319 (1977)
Williams v. Queen Fisheries. Inc., 2 Wn. App. 691 (1970)

### **Statutes**

RCW 18.235.130(1)(a)
RCW 34.05.510
RCW 34.05.558
RCW 49.44.080
RCW 50.01.010
RCW 50.04.294
RCW 50.20.066
RCW 50.20.294
RCW 50.32.120
RCW 9A.76.05024
Regulations
WAC 192-150-200(2)
WAC 192-150-200(3)(b)
WAC 192-150-205(1)

### I. Introduction

In this appeal from an Employment Security Department decision awarding benefits, the Court of Appeals is invited to analyze evidence of insubordination and misconduct, to decide whether an employee's breach of the duty of loyalty affects the defense of a good faith error in judgment, and to clarify the employer's burden in proving misconduct in an unemployment benefits case.

The fundamental requirements of a security guard job is to observe and report. If these duties are not performed, a security company cannot be successful. The job of a private security officer is to observe and report. Puget Sound Security Patrol, Inc. fired security guard Dorothy Thomas for the willful and repeated refusal to write a report; she refused to obey her supervisor and manager, and her CEO. She was fired for insubordination. Dorothy Thomas' employer instructed her three times to do her job, which was to write an incident report. She was threatened with termination, yet she refused three times. The incident report related to Ms. Thomas' oral accusations of criminal gang-related activity taking place at a client facility. She was trained on the report-writing requirement and knew the importance of the incident report to her employer. When asked, she testified that she refused because she thought it was not in her own personal interest to write it. This willful refusal to obey the reasonable

instruction from an employer constitutes a willful and wanton disregard for the employer's interest, which disqualifies a claimant for benefits under the Employment Security Act.

The statute defining misconduct is clear. If an employee exhibits a deliberate, willful, or purposeful refusal to follow the reasonable directions of her employer, she is disqualified from benefits.

Insubordination and rule violations are specifically designated as misconduct under the statute, and Ms. Thomas committed both. Everyone agrees that the orders were reasonable, yet she refused. The department and the superior court misread the law, and misapplied the law to the facts of this case.

Ms. Thomas is disqualified for insubordination, which is consistent with the common law of agency for her disloyalty of placing her own interests above her employer's. She willfully refused direct orders from the highest ranking officers of her employer several times, reportedly believing that the incident report requested as part of her job would be used against her. Her actions constitute misconduct under the statute, and the department and superior court erred in allowing benefits. The decision should be reversed.

### II. Assignments of Error

- 1. The Employment Security Department erred in awarding benefits to claimant Dorothy Thomas by finding that she did not commit misconduct as defined in RCW 50.04.294(1)(a) and (2)(a), (f), and (g).
- The Employment Security Department erred in finding that claimant Dorothy Thomas's refusal to labor did not constitute willful and wanton disregard for her employer's interests.
- 3. The Employment Security Department erred in concluding that the claimant's conduct constitutes a good faith error in judgment and that her motivation was proper is supported by substantial evidence.
- The superior court erred in affirming the Employment Security
   Department's decisions.

### III. Issues Pertaining to Assignment of Error

- 1. Whether an employee commits disqualifying misconduct under RCW 50.04.294 when she refuses to provide written reports to her employer where such reports relate to the job of a security guard, the refusal is willful, and the refusal prevents the employer from providing security services to the paying client?
- 2. Whether the Commissioner's Review Office erred in considering the claimant's motivations and intent in refusing to follow her employer's reasonable direction?

- 3. Whether an employee's refusal to obey her manager's and CEO's directives to write a report, when premised on an unjustified, subjective fear that such report could be used against her, constitutes a "good faith error in judgment" and is thereby exempted from the definition of "misconduct" under RCW 50.04.294(3)(c)?
- 4. Whether the refusal to obey a directive to write a report involves any judgment whatsoever, as to be subject to the "good faith error in judgment" exemption from the definition of "misconduct?"
- 5. Whether any error in judgment can be made in good faith when that purported error constitutes a breach of the duty of loyalty to the employer?
- 6. Whether an employee's disloyalty by prioritizing her personal interests above the business interests of her employer, thereby damaging the employer, constitutes misconduct?

### IV. Statement of the Case

### A. Employment Context

1. Incident reports are urgent, important, and essential to provide security.

Puget Sound Security is a locally owned private security provider.

In order to effectively guard the security of a client, the guards must

observe, and then report information. Commissioner's Record<sup>1</sup> (CR) 50; CR 93; CR 122.

Report writing and documentation of events are essential functions of security guards. Guards are responsible for writing daily logs to document everything they observe, and to "start [their] log the second [they] arrive and keep it current..." CR 217; CR 275-76 (FOF 7). They are also responsible for completing detailed incident reports whenever there is "theft, damage, verbal or physical events" or to document important, unusual, or extraordinary events. CR 217; CR 275-76 (FOF 7 & 8). Security guards are extensively trained on the importance of report writing. CR 34-35; CR 122-23.

Guards are trained to write information in two different forms: daily logs and incident reports. Guards write daily logs to document everything they observe, and to "start [their] log the second [they] arrive and keep it current..."CR 217, CR 275-76 (FOF 7). Incident reports, by contrast, detail more extraordinary events, such as "theft, damage, verbal or physical events." *Id.* Daily logs are kept on site, while the incident reports must be submitted to the employer. CR 276 (FOF 9). Unlike the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Appellants designated the Commissioner's Record on appeal, which is also the Administrative Record. The internal numbering in the record contains two separate numbers on each page. The cited numbers herein are consistent with the bottom center numbering scheme, "page X of 308," in the Commissioner's record.

activities recorded on daily logs, incident reports often require some investigation or action by the employer; incident reports are vital to securing the client's property and personnel. CR 50; CR 93. These reports are crucial to maintain client relationships and to continue securing the properties.

Puget Sound Security considers written incident reports to be reliable and provable accounts of fact related to their mission. It prefers incident reports so that it is not relying on untrustworthy "verbal hearsay." CR 278 (FOF 14). Without documentation of extraordinary events such as theft, Puget Sound Security cannot safeguard the client's site and reputation, which is the primary service contracted for by the client. The failure to provide a written report harms Puget Sound Security's relationship with its customers.

Puget Sound Security has a number of rules to ensure its employees properly assist in its investigative duties. *See* CR 214 (Employees must comply with directions from supervisor; must carry out duties diligently; must not give false testimony and must cooperate in criminal investigations); CR 215 (Employees must report all criminal acts); and CR 216 (Employees must report all safety hazards, observed criminal acts, and unprofessional conduct by fellow employees.).

Claimant Dorothy Thomas, a security guard employed by Puget Sound Security, acknowledged reading and understanding each of these rules. *Id.* Through her state training and reading of Puget Sound Security rules, Thomas was aware of the importance that written reports have to both clients and Puget Sound Security.

### 2. Report writing is mandated by Washington regulation.

The employer's policies are consistent with the security guards' obligations to the state. Washington regulations governing the security guard industry also stress that report writing is a requirement for security guards. Before a person may earn her security guard license, she must undergo eight hours of formal training on subjects that include report writing, followed by testing. WAC 308-18-300. Post assignment training must also include subjects such as "observation and incident reporting." WAC 308-18-305. The basic functions of observing and reporting are what makes a person a security guard; without report writing, one is not a security guard.

The employee in this case owes an obligation to understand the importance of writing incident reports both to her employer and to the state, as part of her keeping her license to hold the very job she was working at the time.

B. Dorothy Thomas orally reported incidents but refused to do her job of writing them.

### 1. Ms. Thomas was removed from the client site.

Ms. Thomas, a security guard, orally claimed to have seen very serious criminal behavior at the client's warehouse where she was stationed by her employer. She claims to have observed drug use, gang-related activities, illegal weapons, and an organized theft ring. CR 276-77 (FOF 10-12). She testified that, in her two years of employment, she perhaps wrote five or six incident reports. CR 146 ("I don't remember. It could be – I tried to make sure that they were something that [inaudible] to the police. Maybe five or six.") Despite her claims that she had submitted documents, it is undisputed that her employer never saw or received any such incident report. No incident reports were offered as evidence by the claimant at the unemployment benefits hearing.

### 2. The client does not need to manage security employees.

One consideration that leads many clients to hire private security companies to take care of their security needs is the freedom it provides them from the time and expense of hiring, training and managing employees. They do not want to deal with the day-to-day issues of the employees, or to address each and every potential breach of security.

Instead, they hire Puget Sound Security as an expert in providing security

services to deal with any security issues, leaving the responsibility for the individual guards with their employer.

As a guard, Ms. Thomas had specific protocols regarding the six people whom she could call and in what priority she was to call those people. Nevertheless, she routinely ignored protocol, in contravention of the employer's rules. CR 111.

### 3. The guard refused to tell her employer what she told the client.

Puget Sound Security did not find out that Ms. Thomas claimed to observe illegal activity until the client contacted it on June 8. CR 80.

Puget Sound Security later found out that Ms. Thomas contacted the client's human resource representatives to address the issues. CR 124-25.

Most of her allegations were unfounded. CR 125; CR 277 (FOF 14).

Ms. Thomas was not authorized to make this kind of direct client contact. CR 98. Ms. Thomas finally went so far outside of her employer's and her client's chain of command as to contact the head of security for the entire client corporation in Arizona. CR 98; CR 277 (FOF 13).

After becoming annoyed with its private security company, the client indicated that Ms. Thomas was no longer welcome as a security guard. CR 277 (FOF 12). Puget Sound Security responded by removing her from this client account as requested.

It is Puget Sound Security's contractual obligation to provide security to its client. It needed information to do so. However, Puget Sound Security never saw a single incident report authored by Ms. Thomas. CR 278 (FOF 16). It had no reason to believe that one existed; to the contrary, it had reason to believe that no such report existed.

Ms. Thomas's supervisor told her to write an incident report so they could investigate her oral reports, and to present the written report at a meeting with him. CR 278 (FOF 15).

### C. Thomas was given time to write a report.

The client requested that Ms. Thomas be removed from the site on June 8, 2011. The appointment to present the written report to her supervisor was scheduled at the employer's headquarters two days later.

Ms. Thomas arrived at the meeting late and without a written report. CR 117-18; CR 278 (FOF 16). While at the office, she was again instructed to write a report by a superior. CR 118. She, again, refused. CR 118-19; CR 278 (FOF 16); CR 279 (FOF 21).

Unable to obtain the information any other way or to persuade Ms. Thomas to complete the report, the supervisor enlisted the help of Puget Sound Security's CEO, George Schaeffer. CR 119; CR 278 (FOF 16).

The employer's CEO, Mr. Schaeffer, introduced himself to Ms. Thomas directed her to draft an incident report. CR 127; CR 278 (FOF 16). She refused a third time. CR 278 (FOF 16). Mr. Schaeffer told Ms. Thomas that the company could only act when it had information, and that it was Ms. Thomas' job to provide the information she had. CR 127. Still, Ms. Thomas refused. CR 281 (FOF 21).

Ms. Thomas did not ask to clarify the request, and did not ask to speak to anyone about it. CR 81. She did not want to write a report because she was afraid it would be used against her. CR 278 (FOF 16). She gave no other explanation why she would refuse to do her job and write the report until after the disciplinary hearings, in front of the ALJ.

When Mr. Schaeffer indicated to her that she could be fired for insubordination if she refused to write the report as instructed,

Ms. Thomas still refused to do her job. CR 36.

## D. Ms. Thomas was given more time to write the report and warned of the consequences.

Ms. Thomas was suspended. CR 278 (FOF 16). She was told to return in a few days with the written report for a disciplinary hearing about what, if any, additional discipline should be imposed. Five days later, she came in for a disciplinary hearing without having completed an incident

report. CR 278 (FOF 18); CR 84-85.<sup>2</sup> She was given an opportunity to explain or justify her refusal to write the report. CR 85. She remained silent. *Id.* The employer finally terminated her for insubordination. *Id.* 

By knowingly, willfully refusing to perform her job after being warned about repercussions from insubordination, Ms. Thomas became the primary moving party in her termination.

### E. The Department denied, then awarded unemployment benefits.

The Employment Security Department denied Ms. Thomas unemployment benefits. It found she had been terminated for misconduct. CR 8; CR 202. Ms. Thomas appealed, and her hearing was September 30, 2011. CR 6-54.

At the initial hearing, just over three months after her discharge, Ms. Thomas justified her refusal to follow orders by stating that she wanted to speak with her supervisor because he was "the one that pulled me off site." CR 39. When she was unable to do so, she "felt defensive and afraid" and refused the direct orders of her supervisors. CR 39-40. She did not claim to have previously written an incident report. She summarized her understanding of why she was fired: "I wouldn't write

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Prior to the direct examination of the employer's witnesses, the employer testified from Puget Sound Security business records to provide a detailed summary of the timeline relevant to this action. CR 80-86. These pages are attached for the court's review.

immediately an incident report and I wanted to talk to somebody first."

CR 38. She offered no other explanation for what happened. When asked if there was anything to add, Ms. Thomas replied "No. That's it. It covers it all." CR 41.

The ALJ set aside the ESD decision and allowed benefits.

CR 250-55. The Commissioner's Review Office remanded for a new hearing, requesting additional evidence regarding the employer's demand for an incident report, the claimant's motivation for refusing to write the report, and the reasonableness of the employer's order. CR 271; CR 275 (FOF 3). A second hearing was held on February 2, 2012. CR 60-197.

Four months later at the February hearing, Ms. Thomas admitted to refusing the order, (CR 148-49), and also remembered a number of things to add that were missing from her initial testimony. She claimed to have written up numerous reports and logs and to have submitted them to her supervisor. CR 135-36. She also claimed that she asked to write a report to save her job **after** she was fired. CR 297 (FOF 18).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> For reasons explained more fully below, the request regarding evidence of the claimant's motivations for the insubordination is contrary to established case law regarding misconduct, and was therefore an erroneous view of the law. This error was adopted by the ALJ, approved by the Commissioner, and disregarded by the superior court.

The administrative law judge acknowledged that the employer's orders were reasonable, and recognized that Ms. Thomas refused to obey them. CR 281 (Conclusion of Law 8). However, the ALJ states that "these events did not occur in a vacuum." *Id.* The insubordination was excused due to her finding that Ms. Thomas did not intend harm to the employer. CR 280 (FOF 23). In reaching her conclusions, the ALJ considered the motivation of the employee: "the claimant acted out of apprehension and confusion rather than out of a conscious intent to harm the employer. The claimant's failure ... was at worst the kind of error of judgment that the statute states is not misconduct." CR 282 (Concl. of Law 9). The Commissioner's Review Office affirmed the ALJ's decision, noting that it "turns largely upon credibility findings" (CR 296) and that "the claimant's conduct here ... is best characterized as a good faith error in judgment." Benefits were awarded.

# F. The ALJ's decision poses a threat to the employment relationship.

An employee's insubordination is a threat to the employer regardless of the industry. It threatens very relationship between the employee and employer, agent and principal. It threatens the cohesiveness of a team, where strong teamwork is one of the most important assets a company can possess. It can hurt the morale and success of a business and

cause poor work performance. It undermines the authority of the business's principals and increases workplace stress. For this reason, insubordination is the first listed example of the "willful and wanton disregard of the employer's interest" defined in the misconduct statute. RCW 50.04.294(2)(a). If an employee does not do as instructed, it harms the employer's interests.

More so than in other industries, a security guard's insubordination jeopardizes her employer's ability to provide security. Clients contract with Puget Sound Security's principals to protect its personnel and property. Chain of command is an essential piece of this service:

Principals gather information about the client needs and create policies and directives to address them. Those directives are issued to the security guards, who are expected to perform as ordered and to report back with information. If the guards fail in this, the employer cannot meet the client's objectives, exposing that client to risks against which Puget Sound Security is paid to protect, endangering the employer's interests.

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