NO. 69807-9

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

JEFF KIRBY, an individual, AND PUGET SOUND SECURITY PATROL, INC.,

Appellant-Petitioners

v.

STATE OF WASHINGTON DEPARTMENT OF EMPLOYMENT SECURITY,

Respondent.

TATE OF WASHINGTON

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

JEREMY GELMS Assistant Attorney General WSBA No. 45646 800 Fifth Ave., Suite 2000 Seattle, WA 98104 OID # 91020 Ph. (206) 464-7676

Fax: (206) 389-2800

E-mail: LALSeaEF@atg.wa.gov

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

V. ARGUMENT

The Commissioner properly concluded that the Employer did not prove Ms. Thomas was discharged for disqualifying misconduct. RCW 50.20.066(1). Misconduct requires that an action be willful; that is, the claimant must act intentionally and be aware that they are violating or disregarding the rights of the employer. WAC 192-150-205(1). Ms. Thomas complied with company policy and all applicable laws. And given the totality of circumstances, it was reasonable for Ms. Thomas to be confused about what she was being asked to do. Ms. Thomas's conduct, which was the result of her legitimate confusion and attributable to the Employer's lack of communication amongst management, was not misconduct; it was at most a good faith error in judgment.

Further, an employee engages in disqualifying misconduct when they refuse to follow the reasonable directions of the employer. Here, substantial evidence supports the Commissioner's finding that the Employer's order that she immediately write an additional incident report, in light of the miscommunication and without allowing Ms. Thomas to seek clarification from Mr. Squire in their previously scheduled meeting, was not reasonable and may not be the basis for finding misconduct. Thus, the Commissioner properly determined that Ms. Thomas was eligible for benefits. The decision of the Commissioner should be affirmed.

A. The Commissioner Properly Concluded That Ms. Thomas Made a Good Faith Error in Judgment

The Employment Security Act ("Act") was enacted to provide compensation to individuals unemployed through no fault of their own. *Tapper*, 122 Wn.2d at 407–08. Accordingly, the Act must be liberally construed in favor of granting benefits to unemployed claimants. RCW 50.01.010; *Tapper*, 122 Wn.2d at 407–08.

A discharged claimant is entitled to unemployment benefits unless the employer proves the claimant was fired for work-connected misconduct. RCW 50.20.066(1); WAC 192-150-200(1).

Misconduct includes the following:

- (a) Willful or wanton disregard of the rights, title, and interests of the employer or a fellow employee;
- (b) Deliberate violations or disregard of standards of behavior which the employer has the right to expect of an employee;

- (c) Carelessness or negligence that causes or would likely cause serious bodily harm to the employer or a fellow employee; or
- (d) Carelessness or negligence of such degree or recurrence to show an intentional or substantial disregard of the employer's interest.

RCW 50.04.294(1). The Act goes on to provide examples of behavior that constitute willful or wanton disregard of the rights, title, and interests of the employer, including "[i]nsubordination showing a *deliberate*, willful, or purposeful refusal to follow the reasonable directions or instructions of the employer." RCW 50.04.294(2)(a) (emphasis added).

Notably, misconduct does not include "(a) Inefficiency, unsatisfactory conduct, or failure to perform well as the result of inability or incapacity; (b) Inadvertence or ordinary negligence in isolated instances; or (c) Good faith errors in judgment or discretion." RCW 50.04.294(3); see also Macey v. Empl. Sec. Dep't, 110 Wn.2d 308, 318, 752 P.2d 372 (1988) (recognizing that "[g]iven the mandate of liberal construction [in RCW 50.01.010], we conclude that unsatisfactory job performance, whether stemming from inability to perform, errors of judgment, or ordinary negligence, does not constitute misconduct."). Inability, ordinary negligence, and good faith errors in judgment are excluded from the definition of misconduct because they are generally

behaviors society does not consider to be the "fault" of the employee. Tapper, 122 Wn.2d at 411.

The employer has the initial burden to show, by a preponderance of the evidence, that the discharge was the result of misconduct on the part of the employee. RCW 50.20.066; *Nelson v. Dep't of Emp't Sec.*, 98 Wn.2d 370, 374–75, 655 P.2d 242 (1982). A preponderance of the evidence is that which produces the strongest impression, has the greater weight, and is more convincing than the evidence against which it is offered. WAC 192-100-065, *Yamamoto v. Puget Sound Lumber Co.*, 84 Wn. 411, 417, 146 P. 861 (1915). On appeal, it is the appellant's burden to establish that the Commissioner's decision was in error. RCW 34.05.570(1)(a); *Smith* 155 Wn. App. at 32.

The Department does not question the Employer's decision to discharge an employee. *See Tapper*, 122 Wn. 2d at 412 (noting that an employer's decision to discharge an employee is distinct from the Department's decision to grant or deny unemployment benefits). But the question here is not whether Ms. Thomas should have been discharged, but whether the reason for discharging her falls within the statutory definition of "misconduct" so that she is disqualified from receiving unemployment benefits. *See Johnson v. Emp't Sec. Dep't*, 64 Wn. App. 311, 314–15, 824 P.2d 505 (1992) (holding that conduct that justified an

employee's discharge does not necessarily disqualify that employee from unemployment benefits under the Act); *Wilson v. Emp't Sec. Dep't*, 87 Wn. App 197, 203–04, 940 P,2d 269 (1997) ("The fact that Wilson's acts might have been sufficient grounds to justify his discharge from employment does not mean that they were sufficient grounds to constitute statutory misconduct and disqualify him from unemployment benefits.").

Applying the statutory language and interpretive cases above, the Commissioner's decision that Ms. Thomas's conduct did not amount to misconduct is supported by substantial evidence and is free from any errors of law.

1. Substantial evidence supports the finding that Ms. Thomas was confused by the Employer's request, and her confusion resulted from the Employer's miscommunication among management

A finding of misconduct requires that a claimant's action be willful or wanton. WAC 192-150-205(1). Substantial evidence supports the finding that Ms. Thomas was confused by the Employer's order that she immediately write an incident report and that her confusion resulted from the Employer's miscommunication among its management. This did not amount to a willful refusal. Rather, Ms. Thomas's actions were at most a good faith error in judgment, which the statute explicitly states is not misconduct.

RCW 50.04.294(1)(a) specifically provides that an employee's "willful or wanton disregard of the rights, title, and interests of the employer or a fellow employee" disqualifies the employee from unemployment benefits. The Department has defined the terms "willful" and "wanton" in its regulations. "Willful' means intentional behavior done deliberately or knowingly, where you are aware that you are violating or disregarding the rights of your employer or a co-worker." WAC 192-150-205(1) (emphasis added). "Wanton' means malicious behavior showing extreme indifference to a risk, injury, or harm to another that is known or should have been known to you. . . . " WAC 192-150-205(2) (emphasis added). While the misconduct statute reflects amendments made effective in 2004, "willful or wanton disregard" remains central to the definition of "misconduct" as it was when misconduct was first defined by statute in 1993. The words "deliberate" and "intentional" also remain prominent throughout the statute.

Here, Ms. Thomas wrote and submitted all required incident reports to Mr. Dose. CR 94, 145–46, 276–77; FF 9, 10–12, 19. The Commissioner found that the parties did not have the same understanding of what the claimant was being asked to do on the day she was called into the Employer's office. CR 281; FF 16, 20; CL 8. Ms. Thomas's immediate supervisor, Mr. Dose, had not been properly forwarding

incident reports to the Employer's main office as required by company policy. FF 9, 16, 19, 20; CL 8, 9. As a result, the CEO and HR manager were unaware Ms. Thomas had properly filed all incident reports with her supervisor. Instead, they erroneously believed they were ordering Ms. Thomas to write her first incident report regarding the headphone thefts. FF 20; CL 8, 9.

Conversely, Ms. Thomas knew she had properly submitted all required incident reports to her immediate supervisor, but she was unaware that these reports had not been forwarded to the main office. FF 9, 16; CL 8, 9. The Commissioner specifically found:

This information gap was not the claimant's fault. Rather, her immediate supervisor did not convey what she had written in her logs and incident reports to his supervisor, Mr. Squire. This break in communication occurred above the claimant in the chain of command.

CR 281, CL 8. In other words, there was an information gap directly attributable to the Employer's miscommunication.

The miscommunication was further complicated by the fact that Ms. Thomas had a scheduled meeting to talk with Mr. Squire about the headphone thefts and anticipated speaking with him as previously scheduled so she could seek clarification and guidance about what she was being asked to write down. CR 150–59; FF 16, 21, 22; CL 9. Instead, Ms. Thomas was confronted by the HR manager and CEO who she had

never met ordering her to write an incident report on the spot and prior to Mr. Squire's return. CR 119; FF 16; CL 9. Finding herself in an intimidating situation based on the employer's miscommunication and unexpected confrontation, Ms. Thomas was legitimately confused and scared about what she was being asked to do. CR 282; CL 9.

Given these circumstances, which are supported by substantial evidence in the record, the Commissioner properly concluded that Ms. Thomas's conduct was the result of her confusion attributable to the Employer, not a willful refusal to follow the Employer's instructions. She thus should not be disqualified from receiving unemployment benefits.

2. Ms. Thomas made a good faith error in judgment

The Commissioner properly characterized Ms. Thomas's response when she was asked to write another incident report as a good faith error in judgment rather than a willful refusal. As noted above, the Act explicitly excludes "good faith errors in judgment or discretion" from the definition of misconduct RCW 50.04.294(3)(c).

For example, the employer in *Ciskie v. Emp't Sec. Dep't*, 35 Wn. App. 72, 76, 664 P.2d 1318 (1983), had a rule requiring employees to notify a specific supervisor prior to leaving the work site. While at work, Mr. Ciskie received an emergency phone call requiring him to leave the work site. *Ciskie* 35 Wn. App. at 73–74. He attempted to contact his

supervisor and, when he was unsuccessful, asked a co-worker to relay the emergency to the supervisor once he was located. *Id.* at 74.

The court found Mr. Ciskie did not engage in disqualifying misconduct. Although he violated the technical terms of the company rule, he "did . . . attempt to comply with his employer's rule." *Id.* at 76. The court found the employee's deviation from the proper notification procedure reflected "poor judgment or negligence;" however, the fact that he attempted to comply with the rule "was sufficient to dispel any inference that the [employee's conduct] was motivated by bad faith or that he simply did not care about the consequences of his actions." *Id.* Thus, his actions did not constitute a willful or wanton disregard of the employer's interests.

Like the claimant in *Ciskie*, Ms. Thomas attempted to comply with the employer's incident report procedures and in fact complied with the Employer's log and incident report policies. Ms. Thomas diligently reported all incidents she observed on the job, and it was because of her diligence that the headphone thefts ultimately ceased. In light of the information gap caused by the Employer and Ms. Thomas's subsequent confusion, Ms. Thomas's failure to give more of an explanation or attempt to write anything down on the spot without any guidance was at most a good faith error in judgment.

The conclusion that Ms. Thomas's actions were a good faith error in judgment is also supported by the underlying purpose of the Act. The Act is "fault based" and was enacted not to punish those who are unemployed, but to "be liberally construed for the purpose of reducing involuntary unemployment and the suffering caused thereby to the minimum." RCW 50.01.010. The statute explicitly excludes inability, ordinary negligence, and good faith errors in judgment from the definition of misconduct because these are behaviors society does not consider to be the "fault" of the employee. *Tapper*, 122 Wn.2d at 411. Consistent with this underlying purpose, an employer's miscommunication that leads to a claimant's legitimate confusion and misunderstanding cannot be considered the "fault" of the employee and should not form the basis of denying benefits. Finding otherwise would run contrary to the primary purpose of the Act.

The Employer's attempt to implant employment law into the analysis of the Employment Security Act and argue that Ms. Thomas committed misconduct because she breached her duty of loyalty is misguided. Br. of App. at 29–32. The issue before the Court is not the validity or invalidity of Ms. Thomas's termination; it is unemployment benefit eligibility under Title 50 RCW. *Johnson*, 64 Wn. App. at 314–15; *Tapper*, 122 Wn. 2d at 412 (noting that an employer's decision to

discharge an employee is distinct from the Department's decision to grant or deny unemployment benefits). As discussed above, a claimant is entitled to benefits unless the employer proves misconduct, which requires a showing of willfulness. Here, the Commissioner correctly concluded that there was no willfulness based on Ms. Thomas's legitimate confusion arising from the Employer's miscommunication. CR 281–82; CL 8, 9. Contrary to the Employer's assertion, the Commissioner did not find that Ms. Thomas had "disloyal motives" or put her self-interest above the Employer's. Br. of App. at 29–32. In fact, it was Ms. Thomas's persistence and diligent reporting of the headphone theft ring that led to its resolution. However, even assuming Ms. Thomas's actions "breached her duty of loyalty" under common law, it would only mean her actions were possible grounds for termination.

The Employer also cites to *Hamel v. Emp't Sec. Dep't*, 93 Wn. App. 140, 966 P.2d 1282 (1998), to emphasize that Ms. Thomas's subjective motivations or intent to harm her Employer is irrelevant in the misconduct analysis. Br. of App. at 19. While the claimant's specific motivations for refusing an order are not relevant, the Act and Hamel nevertheless both acknowledge that the claimant must be aware they are potentially violating or disregarding the rights of their employer and then voluntarily disregard those interests. WAC 192-150-205(1); *Hamel*, 93

Wn. App. at 146–47. Here, Ms. Thomas did not believe she was disregarding her Employer's interest in not writing an incident report because she had already written the report and the headphone thefts had already been resolved. Unlike the employee in *Hamel*, because of her confusion, Ms. Thomas was also not aware that the likely consequence of her action was harm to her employer.

Thus, substantial evidence supports the Commissioner's finding that in light of the information gap and break in communication directly attributable to the Employer, Ms. Thomas was legitimately confused and not aware that she was potentially violating or disregarding the rights of her employer. Her confusion does not constitute willful misconduct. Rather, in light of the information gap, Ms. Thomas's failure to give more of an explanation or attempt to write anything down on the spot was at most a good faith error in judgment.

B. Substantial Evidence Supports the Commissioner's Finding that the Employer's Request Was Not Reasonable

The Employer's demand that Ms. Thomas immediately write an incident report on the spot without allowing her to seek clarification and guidance on what was being ordered was unreasonable and may not form the basis for a finding of insubordination. Under the plain language of the Act, a claimant commits insubordination only if an employer proves the

claimant deliberately, willfully, or purposefully refused to follow the reasonable directions of the employer. RCW 50.04.294(2)(a) (emphasis added). Reasonableness is generally a question of fact to be determined by the fact finder. See e.g., Forsman v. Emp't Sec. Dep't, 59 Wn. App. 76, 83, 795 P.2d 1184 (1990) (finding whether claimant exhausted all reasonable alternatives is a question of fact); Hamel, 93 Wn. App. at 147 (deferring to Commissioner's finding about whether a reasonable person would understand that claimant's actions would harm employer). Substantial evidence supports the Commissioner's finding that the order given to Ms. Thomas was not objectively reasonable based on the totality of the circumstances.

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